STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marlboro County

Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

Doc. 1

RECEIVED

JAN 08 2014

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN L. HOGAN,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-208526

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by refusing to allow the psychopharmacological testimony of Dr. William Morton about how appellant's drug use affected his perception of events, since this was relevant to the jury's consideration of voluntary manslaughter -- provocations causing a heat of passion and a cooling off period -- and it was not offered as a defense or to prove diminished capacity?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Marlboro County grand jury for the offense of murder. His case was called to trial on February 6, 2012 before the Honorable Howard P. King, and a jury. Daniel L. Blake represented appellant. Mary Thomas Johnson-Lee and W. Shipp Daniel III were the assistant solicitors. R. 1

On February 8, 2012, jury found appellant guilty of murder. R. 422, ll. 8 -13. Judge King sentenced appellant to life imprisonment. R. 423, ll. 17 – 23.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

The court erred by refusing to allow the psychopharmacological testimony of Dr. William Morton about how appellant's drug use affected his perception of events, since this was relevant to the jury's consideration of voluntary manslaughter -- provocations causing a heat of passion and a cooling off period -- and it was not offered as a defense or to prove diminished capacity

Relevant facts

A pre-trial hearing held on December 9, 2011. Appellant proffered the testimony of psychopharmacologist, Dr. William Alexander Morton. R. 3, l. 10 – 4, l. 6. Dr. Morton had practiced psychopharmacology for thirty-five years. He was retired, but still consulting with the University of South Carolina Medical School as a professor emeritus of “pharmacy and associate clinical professor of psychiatry and behavioral sciences.” R. 4, ll. 3 – 18.

Dr. Morton had been involved in routinely collecting data and rendering opinions -- both on an inpatient and outpatient basis – on drug abuse matters for about twenty-eight years. R. 6, ll. 9 – 8, l. 4. Dr. Morton explained and gave several examples of how he dealt with his staff as the “team leader” on such issues as withdrawal symptoms, and detoxifying patients. R. 6, l. 9 – 8, l. 5. Dr. Morton had previously testified numerous times as an expert in matters related to cocaine use and its effect on a person's cognitive ability. R. 14, ll. 8 – 11. The state stipulated to Dr. Morton's qualifications as an expert in the fields of addiction and psychopharmacology. R. 19, ll. 13 – 24.

Dr. Morton testified that crack cocaine was more likely to cause violence than powdered cocaine. In working with emergency room physicians, he attempted to teach

them that they risk coming under attack under by a person on crack cocaine because they “are suddenly explosively violent.” R. 37, ll. 6 – 24. Dr. Morton explained: “[O]ne of the things it does is it releases tremendous amounts of chemicals that are used if you were in a violent situation to help you either fight or run away. And that term is ‘flight or fight.’” A person’s heart would be racing as they attempted to handle the stress of an encounter. R. 38, ll. 4 – 25.

Dr. Morton specifically addressed appellant’s relapse into using crack cocaine: “Absolutely....it would have had effect on his behavior during the week of his use, which was rather a recent onset.” R. 41, ll. 23 – 42, l. 11. Dr. Morton said from his years of treating people on these drugs he learned their thinking was not clear and that it was impaired. R. 42, ll. 4 – 23. It affected the frontal part of the brain where decisions were made, and it caused suspiciousness, agitation, and restlessness.

Dr. Morton noted evidence that the **decedent** also had cocaine and hydroxyzine in her blood, as well, as alcohol in her system R. 43, ll. 9 – 16. Given the evidence in this case, Dr. Morton opined there was a “pretty high likelihood,” based on the amount of crack cocaine appellant had used, that would have caused him to be aggressive, irritable and uncomfortable on the night of the fatal incident. R. 47, ll. 20 – 49, l. 13. As will be seen infra, the fatal encounter occurred when appellant spotted the decedent going through his wallet. When caught, the decedent also reacted violently in her drug induced state of mind.

The trial judge then questioned Dr. Morton about the effects of such drug use. Dr. Morton said that the paranoia associated with cocaine use could last for days, months, and could affect the ability of the user to make rational decisions for as long as eighteen

months. Dr. Morton testified that appellant was still criminally responsible for his behavior because voluntary intoxication was not a defense from a legal standpoint. R. 53, ll. 7 – 54, l. 9; R. 56, ll. 4 – 11. Dr. Morton further offered that appellant knew right from wrong despite his drug use, but that the drug causes “incredible changes in a person’s perception.” R. 56, l. 4 – 58, l. 12.

Assistant solicitor Daniel argued that voluntary intoxication in South Carolina was not a defense, and he claimed the defense was putting forth Dr. Morton’s testimony to argue to the jury that appellant was guilty of voluntary manslaughter and not murder. The state also argued that, even if Dr. Morton’s testimony was relevant, it should be excluded under Rule 403, SCRE, because of its unduly prejudicial nature to the state’s case. R. 66, l. 18 – 71, l. 16.

Defense counsel argued that evidence of the crack cocaine would come in during the case before the jury anyway because it was part of the *res gestae*. He noted that in Judge Anderson’s Requests to Charge book, Judge Anderson had instructions that the jury had to consider all surrounding circumstances when determining whether heat of passion existed and the mental state involved in a defendant cooling off. R. 71, l. 20 – 78, l. 23.

Further argument was heard on the matter on January 10, 2012. R. 81, ll. 13 – 82, l. 3. Defense counsel Blake argued under State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999) and Rule 702, SCRE, that the court had to consider whether scientific evidence would assist a trier of fact. Counsel Blake argued that Dr. Morton’s testimony would assist the jury in understanding how appellant and the decedent were acting since they were both on drugs that evening. Counsel noted that the jury needed to understand how

crack cocaine affected behavior. Again, Dr. Morton's testimony could be helpful to the jury as to the issues of heat of passion and the cooling off period. R. 82, ll. 4 – 86, l. 8.

Assistant solicitor Daniel argued the defense was only attempting to disguise voluntary intoxication as a defense -- a "backdoor attempt." R. 86, ll. 11 – 14, l. 22. The judge, after hearing extensive arguments, ruled that Dr. Morton's testimony was not the proper subject of expert testimony in this case, and he denied the motion to reconsider that ruling. Dr. Morton's testimony was thus excluded entirely from the jury's consideration. R. 95. l. 18 – 96, l. 3.

Trial facts

Appellant met the decedent after he began using crack cocaine again after having gone through drug rehabilitation. Queen Brown was the mother of the decedent, Monesha Brown. R. 105, l. 8 – 106, l. 8.

Ms. Brown usually cooked dinner for the family and some people at her church on Wednesday evenings. When the decedent did not arrive one Wednesday Ms. Brown reported her missing and the police began searching for her. R. 106, ll. 2 – 110, l. 9. Ms. Brown admitted her daughter was addicted to crack cocaine, and that she was consequently very worried about her safety. R. 110, ll. 16 – 18.

Bennettsville investigator Larry Turner remembered the decedent was reported missing on June 2, 2010. R. 111, ll. 4 – 112, l. 11. Appellant became a suspect because he was the last person seen with the decedent. There was evidence a confidential government informant was involved in crack cocaine purchases with the decedent and appellant on the night she was killed. R. 114, ll. 1 – 115, l. 23.

Turner interviewed appellant July 21, 2010 at the Bennettsville police station. R. 116, ll. 7 – 9. Turner testified appellant confessed that he had killed the decedent during a confrontation. R. 124, ll. 17 – 25.

Investigator Sean Feldner was also involved in interrogating appellant. Feldner testified appellant initially denied responsibility for the decedent's death. Feldner remembered that he told appellant: "You owe it to the family to bring closure for her and to the kids, and you need to man up, and you need to tell us the truth and what really happened to Monesha Brown." R. 148, ll. 13 – 18.

Appellant then confessed that he was doing crack cocaine with Brown and they went to his trailer intending to have sex. They took a bath together, but appellant got out of the bathtub and went into the kitchen to get a beer. When he reentered his bedroom, he saw Brown going through his wallet. Appellant became enraged and he began fighting with the decedent who was violently angry at being confronted while apparently stealing appellant's money. Brown was thrown into a wall, and there was a "big hole" in that wall where she hit the wall. R. 148, ll. 25 – 154, l. 7. Decedent Brown grabbed a knife and stabbed appellant in his side. Appellant then grabbed a knife and stabbed Brown in the neck. He duct taped her hands behind her back, and placed her in the bathtub. Appellant then smoked some more crack cocaine. Appellant told Feldner that "the devil told him" that he needed "to finish her off." R. 148, ll. 25 – 154, l. 7.

Appellant then got a knife from the kitchen and sliced the victim's neck on both sides. Appellant told investigators that he placed the decedent's body in a barrel, and disposed of the barrel. R. 148, ll. 25 – 154, l. 7. Appellant then led the police to the victim's body which was found in "the barrel located off of 38 South." R. 154, ll. 8 -17.

Jury instructions

The judge instructed the jury on the law of murder and voluntary manslaughter. R. 410, ll. 18 – 416, l.18. He also instructed the jury that voluntary intoxication was not an excuse or a defense to a crime “regardless of whether the crime is one involving general or specific intent.” This rule also extended to voluntary ingestion of drugs. The judge went on to explain in detail that anyone ingesting alcohol or drugs was “no less responsible for his acts while in such condition.” R. 415, ll. 19 – 416, l. 7.

Discussion

In State v. White, 382 S.C. 265, 676 S.E.2d 684 (2009), the Supreme Court noted the gatekeeping function of the trial judge in insuring the reliability of expert testimony. Here, there was not any contention that Dr. Morton was not qualified to give an expert opinion on the effects of crack cocaine on appellant’s perceptions. Rather, the single objection was that Dr. Morton’s testimony was a “backdoor” attempt to offer a “diminished capacity” defense or mislead the jury on how to analyze the “cooling off period” of voluntary manslaughter.

There can be little doubt that Dr. Morton’s testimony would have aided the jury in understanding the effects of crack cocaine on the human body. It affected appellant’s perception of the provocation where he and the decedent were both using crack cocaine. The evidence showed the decedent also reacted violently even though her behavior was not natural given that she was caught in the wrongful act of going through appellant’s wallet. Yet the situation irrationally escalated out of hand. People who kill in a heat of passion are acting irrationally by the nature of the situation. The jury needed guidance on

how chemicals here affected perception since a “rational person standard” is by fact of life not applicable to “heat of passion.”

Before scientific evidence such as Dr. Morton’s is admitted, the judge must determine the evidence is relevant, reliable and helpful to the jury. See State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 515 S.E.2d 508 (1999). Even if relevant scientific evidence can be considered “shaky” it must be remembered that “vigorous cross examination, presentation of contrary evidence and careful instructions on the burden of proof are the traditional appropriate means of attacking shaky but admissible evidence. See State v. Dinkins, 319 S.C. 415, 418, 462 S.E.2d 59, 60 (1995).

Under Rule 702, SCRE if scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier a fact to understand the evidence or determine a fact at issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify there to in a form of an opinion or otherwise. Here Dr. Morton’s testimony was within the broad definition of relevance under Rule 401, SCRE. See, also, State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 403 (1986).

The judge’s instructions here made it very clear, in great detail, that voluntary intoxication was not a defense or excuse, and it did not in any other way mitigate an unlawful killing. The purpose of Dr. Morton’s testimony in this case was merely to have the jury understand that appellant, and the decedent, both reacted, in some part, given the crack cocaine ingestion. If this was “shaky” scientific evidence, the remedy was the well crafted jury instructions that the trial judge **in fact** gave in this case.

The exclusion of Dr. Morton’s relevant scientific evidence in its entirety was prejudicial because the lay people on the jury needed the guidance of this relevant evident