ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Marlboro County

Howard P. King, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JOHN LEE HOGAN, JR.,

APPELLANT,

Appellate Case No. 2012-208526.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Assistant Deputy Attorney General

KAYCIE S. TIMMONS
Assistant Attorney General
SC Bar No. 100237

South Carolina Office of Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211-1549
(803) 734-0265

WILLIAM B. ROGERS, JR.
Solicitor, Fourth Circuit
P.O. Box 616
Bennettsville, SC 29512
(843) 479-6516

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT JAN 09 2014

RECEIVED

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

Analysis

Argument Regarding Provocation Causing Heat of Passion Not Preserved for Appeal

As an initial matter, Respondent submits that Appellant has not preserved the argument that Dr. Morton's testimony was relevant to the jury's consideration of provocation causing heat of passion. Defense counsel did not make that argument to the trial court either during a pre-trial hearing or in his motion for reconsideration. It is a well-settled rule in this state that an issue is not preserved for appellate review unless it is both presented to and passed upon by the trial judge. *See, e.g., State v. McKnight*, 352 S.C. 635, 646, 576 S.E.2d 168, 174 (2003) (noting that an argument must be raised and ruled upon by a trial court to be preserved for appellate review); *State v. Watts*, 321 S.C. 158, 167, 467 S.E.2d 272, 278 (Ct. App. 1996) ("To be preserved for appellate review, an issue must be both presented to and passed upon by the trial court."). Though defense counsel asserted that Dr. Morton's testimony was relevant to the jury's consideration of "whether [Appellant's] heat of passion had cooled or had time to cool prior to the killing of the victim[.]" (R. p. 476), he did not argue that the testimony was relevant to provocation. In fact, at the pre-trial hearing on December 9, 2011, defense counsel argued that the issue of cooling off was "where the effects of the cocaine come in. Has to do with his cooling off period. Not—not what caused him to do it in the first place there, just whether or not he had actually cooled off." (R. p. 73, line 23–p. 74, line 1). Thus, Respondent submits that Appellant renounced any argument that Dr. Morton's testimony was relevant to provocation or

heat of passion—Respondent construes those elements part of “what caused him to do it in the first place.”

Dr. Morton’s Testimony Regarding Appellant’s Intoxicated State

Under S.C. R. Evid. 702,

If scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge will assist the trier of fact to understand the evidence or to determine a fact in issue, a witness qualified as an expert by knowledge, skill, experience, training, or education, may testify thereto in the form of an opinion or otherwise.

The Supreme Court of South Carolina has provided the following instruction for trial courts dealing with expert testimony:

When admitting scientific evidence under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge must find the evidence will assist the trier of fact, the expert witness is qualified, and the underlying science is reliable. The trial judge should apply the *Jones* factors to determine reliability. Further, if the evidence is admissible under Rule 702, SCRE, the trial judge should determine if its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect. Rule 403, SCRE. Once the evidence is admitted under these standards, the jury may give it such weight as it deems appropriate.

State v. Council, 335 S.C. 1, 20–21, 515 S.E.2d 508, 518 (1999). The Court has also noted that scientific evidence is subject to attack for relevancy. *Id.* (citing *State v. Ford*, 301 S.C. 485, 392 S.E.2d 781 (1990)). “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE. “‘Relevant evidence’ means evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE.

Appellant contends that Dr. Morton’s testimony was relevant to the jury’s consideration of voluntary manslaughter—in particular, the elements of provocation causing a heat of passion and of cooling off. (Final Br. of Appellant at 5). Even if this Court finds that Appellant has

preserved his argument as to provocation causing heat of passion and to cooling off, Respondent disagrees that the testimony was relevant.

During Appellant's trial, the court instructed the jury on the elements of murder and the elements of voluntary manslaughter.² (R. p. 410, line 18–p. 415, line 18). Under South Carolina law, “[m]urder’ is the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10. On the other hand,

[v]oluntary manslaughter is the unlawful killing of a human being in sudden heat of passion upon sufficient legal provocation. Heat of passion alone will not suffice to reduce murder to voluntary manslaughter. Both heat of passion and sufficient legal provocation must be present at the time of the killing. The sudden heat of passion, upon sufficient legal provocation, which mitigates a felonious killing to manslaughter, while it need not dethrone reason entirely, or shut out knowledge and volition, must be such as would naturally disturb the sway of reason, and render the mind of an ordinary person incapable of cool reflection and produce what, according to human experience, may be called an uncontrollable impulse to do violence.

State v. Cole, 338 S.C. 97, 101–02, 525 S.E.2d 511, 513 (2000) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

[E]ven when a person's passion is “sufficiently aroused by a legally adequate provocation, if at the time of the killing those passions had cooled or a sufficiently reasonable time had elapsed so that the passions of the ordinary reasonable person would have cooled, the killing would be murder and not manslaughter.”

State v. Hernandez, 386 S.C. 655, 661, 690 S.E.2d 582, 585 (2010) (quoting *State v. Knoten*, 347 S.C. 296, 303, 555 S.E.2d 391, 395 (2001)).

Respondent submits that the relevant inquiry when considering heat of passion is what would inflame the ordinary person,³ and the relevant inquiry when considering cooling off is

² The court did not instruct the jury on either involuntary manslaughter or accident. (R. pp. 401–420).

³ Appellant contends that “[t]he jury needed guidance on how chemicals here affected perception since a ‘rational person standard’ is by fact of life not applicable to ‘heat of passion.’” (FBOA at

what amount of time would be sufficient for an ordinary person to cool down.⁴ The effect of the crack that Appellant had smoked prior to killing Victim is irrelevant to these inquiries—the jury is not charged with determining how an *intoxicated*, reasonable person would act.⁵ In fact, in accordance with South Carolina law, voluntary intoxication is not a defense. *See State v. Davis*, 278 S.C. 544, 545, 298 S.E.2d 778, 779 (1983) (citing *State v. Crocker*, 272 S.C. 344, 251 S.E.2d 764 (1979)) (“Voluntary intoxication does not impair a person’s ability to act with malice aforethought so as to reduce murder to voluntary manslaughter.”); *State v. Vaughn*, 268 S.C. 119, 125–26, 232 S.E.2d 328, 330–31 (1977) (“We adopt the rule that voluntary intoxication, where it has not produced permanent insanity, is never an excuse for or a defense to crime, regardless of whether the intent involved be general or specific. . . . The effect of drunkenness on the mind and on men’s actions . . . is a fact known to everyone, and it is as much the duty of men to abstain from placing themselves in a condition from which such danger to others is to be apprehended as it is to abstain from firing into a crowd or doing any other act likely to be attended with dangerous or fatal consequences.”) (internal quotations and citations omitted).

11). Respondent must disagree with the premise of Appellant’s assertion based the South Carolina Supreme Court’s explanation of “heat of passion.” *See State v. Cole, supra*.

⁴ Alternatively, a jury considers whether a defendant’s passions had actually cooled. Respondent addresses the relevance of Dr. Morton’s testimony with regards to that inquiry later in this brief.

⁵ **The Reasonable Man.** Some cases have considered whether the law should take into account, in measuring the adequacy of the provocation, the fact that the defendant possesses some peculiar mental or physical characteristic, not possessed by the ordinary person, which caused him, in the particular case, to lose his self-control. It is quite uniformly held that the defendant’s special mental qualities—as where, because of a sunstroke or head injury, he is particularly excitable—are not to be considered. Even more clearly, he does not qualify for the voluntary manslaughter treatment where, because of intoxication, he easily loses his self-control; that is to say, he is to be judged by the standard of the reasonable sober man.

2 Wayne R. LaFave, *Subst. Crim. Law* § 15.2 (2d ed.) (citations omitted).

Indeed, the jury in Appellant's trial was charged with such law. (R. p. 415, line 19–p. 416, line 7).

South Carolina has long recognized that evidence of voluntary intoxication is of no matter in voluntary manslaughter considerations. In 1843, the South Carolina Court of Appeals explained

[I]t would be jeopardizing the peace and safety of society, to say that he who, by half a dozen glasses, is habitually rendered irritable and fierce, shall be looked upon with more indulgence when he has barbarously resented a trivial affront, because he had taken the quantity of liquor requisite to make him a savage: or that he who has never been known to grow cool after a transport of wrath excited when he was in a state of intoxication, until sleep had sobered him, shall, in the application of the circumstances to determine what time for cooling is reasonable, be allowed a longer time because, on the occasion in question, he had voluntarily encountered the hazard which drinking was known to bring upon himself and' all around him.

State v. McCants, 28 S.C.L. 384, 395. In other words, one who is voluntarily intoxicated is not treated more favorably by the law than the sober, reasonable man. Consequently, Dr. Morton's testimony regarding the effect of crack cocaine on Appellant's actions was not relevant to the jury's consideration of voluntary manslaughter.

Arguably, Dr. Morton's testimony could have been tangentially relevant to whether Appellant had *actually* cooled down prior to slitting Victim's throat. Of course, Dr. Morton was not present when Appellant killed Victim—thus, he had no lay testimony to contribute as to whether Appellant's passions had cooled. However, based on his interview with Appellant, his viewing of Appellant's confession, and his general knowledge of how crack affects the brain, Dr. Morton surmised that there was a "high likelihood" that on the night Appellant killed Victim, Appellant was acting paranoid, aggressive, irritable and uncomfortable. (R. p. 47, lines 20–25).

Dr. Morton did not testify specifically that Appellant's use of crack would have affected his ability to cool down.⁶

Respondent contends that Dr. Morton's testimony has only slight, if any, evidentiary value on the issue of whether Appellant actually cooled down after the initial altercation. Again, it is clear that in South Carolina "voluntary intoxication is not an excuse for, or a defense to a crime." *State v. Crocker*, 272 S.C. 344, 346, 251 S.E.2d 764, 766. Of course, the jury heard about Appellant's drug use on the day of the crime, but Respondent submits that allowing the jury to consider Dr. Morton's testimony on the effect of crack on Appellant's behavior would have essentially allowed Appellant to benefit, in terms of the jury's considerations of his actions, because he was intoxicated at the time he killed Victim. Respondent submits that such a benefit would be abhorrent to South Carolina law. Furthermore, Dr. Morton's testimony would have been confusing the jury as it would be wholly irrelevant to part of their inquiry (ordinary, reasonable person's cooling down) and perhaps only marginally relevant to another consideration (Appellant's cooling down). Moreover, at trial Appellant testified that on the night of the murder that he felt "paranoid[,] " (R. p. 338, lines 9–11), and "out of control[,] " (R. p. 364, line 22–p. 365, line 9). Thus, Dr. Morton's testimony was not needed to establish how Appellant felt the night he killed Victim. Under S.C. R. Evid. 403, relevant evidence "may be excluded if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the

⁶ In his colloquy with the court, Dr. Morton stressed the spontaneity of Appellant's actions while on crack, and Dr. Morton repeatedly mentioned that Appellant "didn't plan it." (R. p. 49, line 16–p. 63, line 5). However, Respondent notes that no element of "planning" is required to find a defendant guilty of murder. Murder requires "malice aforethought," which is an evil intent existing just before and at the commission of the act. *See State v. Kinard*, 373 S.C. 500, 504–06, 646 S.E.2d 168, 169–70 (2007) (finding a jury charge on malice aforethought to be proper where the trial court instructed the jury that "Malice imports wickedness There has to be a combination between this evil intent existing aforethought, just before and at the commission of the battery, and the act producing the battery . . .").

issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” The trial court was correct in excluding the evidence and avoiding confusion.

Dr. Morton’s Testimony Regarding Victim’s Intoxicated State

Appellant also asserts that Dr. Morton’s testimony was relevant to explain Victim’s violent reaction, which Appellant characterizes as “not natural given that she was caught in the wrongful act of going through appellant’s wallet.” (FBOA at 10–11). However, again, the chemical mechanism triggered by crack that may have caused Victim’s actions is not relevant to the jury’s considerations. There was no need to consider *why* Victim acted the way she did—the jury only needed to consider what Victim did that provoked Appellant. Appellant’s own testimony established that when caught rifling through Appellant’s wallet, Victim ran into the kitchen, grabbed a knife, and stabbed Appellant.⁷ Any testimony that Dr. Morton could have offered regarding Victim’s behavior was unnecessary and may have confused the jury.

⁷ Appellant’s wife’s trial testimony corroborated that defendant had been stabbed though he did not go to the hospital for treatment. (R. p. 277, lines 4–18).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, Respondent respectfully asserts that the trial court's exclusion of Dr. Morton's testimony was not an abuse of discretion. Thus, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment, conviction, and sentence of the trial court should be affirmed.